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  Rooftop Rental Request for Proposal 
 

 

OVERVIEW  

 

 Hawaiian Electric Company, Inc. (the “Company”) is seeking proposals for its Rooftop 

Rental Initial Assessment: utility-owned front of the meter (“FTM”) photovoltaic and energy 

storage systems (“PES System”) that can interconnect on the utility-side of the meter and be 

enabled, monitored, and controlled from a centralized system to deliver Grid Services. The systems 

must also operate in resiliency mode to provide power to the residential customer during grid 

outages. Specifically, this RFP seeks proposals for up to twenty PES systems to be installed on 

residential single family homes by the second quarter of 2021. 

 

 The Company will own the PES System and all equipment required to provide the requested 

functions, except for the Grid Service Monitoring and Control System. The Company will also 

operate and dispatch the PES Systems as needed. 

 

AMENDMENTS TO RFP ATTACHMENTS 

 

 Based on the questions received from Potential Bidders and updated Company policies, the 

Company has made several revisions to Attachment B1 (Proposal Questions), Attachment B2 

(Requirements), Attachment C3 (Energy), and Attachment C4 (Forecast).  

 

Attachment B1: Proposal Questions 

• Added Question 1D. Provide information regarding subcontractors or partners, their 

experience, and their team members. 

• Revised Table B1-A 

o Maintenance. List your monthly price. 

o Added Gateway. List the price of the Gateway(s) for each PES System. 

o Cellular. List your monthly price.  

• Revised Table B1-B 

o Licensing. List your monthly price. 

o Revised the Gateway price to the enablement and provisioning of the gateway. 

• Revised Table B1-C 

o Maintenance. List your monthly cost. 

 

Attachment B2: Requirements 

 Potential Supplier must be subscribed to ISNetworld (ISN) and hold an acceptable grade 

pursuant to ISN requirements to be considered for the award of this RFP.  Potential Bidders who 

are not currently subscribed may do so by contacting ISN Customer Services at (800)-976-1303, 

Contact Us1 or visit www.isnetworld.com.   

 

 

 
 

1 https://www.isnetworld.com/en/contact-us 

mailto:(800)-976-1303
https://www.isnetworld.com/en/contact-us
http://www.isnetworld.com/
https://www.isnetworld.com/en/contact-us
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Attachment C3: Energy 

Updated by changing definition of Availability Requirement from “Available energy is 

any energy being exported to Company and stored by the battery. PV production may or may not 

fill battery” to “Any energy available to Company from PV or ESS”. 

 

Attachment C4: Forecast 

 Updated the Forecast table to include a column for Energy, and added sentence at end 

“Energy is the amount of energy available from PV and ESS. Energy shall be forecasted during 

all hours.” 

 

 

RESPONSE TO QUESTIONS FROM BIDDERS 

 

GENERAL 

 

Can you confirm which documents are due on March 10, 2021?  

a. Based on my reading of the RPF, the "Proposal" shall comprise the following list, is this 

correct?  

• Attachment B1 (Complete responses to all questions) 

• Cover letter with Bidder Representative signature approving submission of the Proposal 

and accepting the terms in Attachment D  (General Services Master Agreement)  

• If modifications are requested to the terms of Attachment D (GSMA), they must be 

submitted in Microsoft Word Track Changes in redline format. 

• Attachment E  

b. Is Attachment D (GSMA) only due on March 10 if the Bidder wants to make 

modifications? 
 

a. Yes, those are the required documents due on March 10, 2021. Please refer to Section 3 of the 

RFP and the included responses to questions from potential bidders for additional guidance in 

creating your proposal. 

b. Yes, please refer to Section 3.2 and 3.3 of the RFP.  

 

 

Is a single bidder able to submit multiple proposals with different equipment/solutions? 

 

Yes 

 

 

Can appendices be added to ATTACHMENT B1 as evidence to questions (e.x., APPENDIX 

A (Liability Certificate) or is it preferred that such documents follow the question directly? 

 

We do not have a preference on format of evidence shared.  
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How do we describe our subcontractors (EPC) or partners (HQC engineers)？ Can we 

include them as part of our team members? 

 

Attachment B1 (Proposal Questions) has been amended. Please describe your subcontractors or 

partners, their experience, and their team members in your response to question 1d.  

 

 

Will you be making a bidder list available to parties interested in teaming arrangements to 

provide turnkey services? 

 

No, we will not release a bidder list for the Initial Assessment. However, we will ask those who 

showed interest in this RFP if they want to be included in a bidder list for the RFP for the full-

scale program. 

 

 

The RFP seems to be for installations on Oahu only. Is that correct? 

 

Yes, this RFP is for O‘ahu only.  

 

 

What is the basis of the scoring process? 

 

Section 10 of the RFP describes the evaluation criteria the Company will use to evaluate 

proposals. 

 

 

Is this pilot project sized fixed or could it grow larger before a final decision is made to 

curtail or expand? 

 

The Initial Assessment is fixed and limited to twenty systems. 

 

 

What is the length of the contract with HECO? Is it 4 months, the duration of 2021, or 1 

full year? 

 

The length of the contract is for four months and will be renewed monthly as necessary.   

 

 

Regarding pricing for the pricing tables (Function A, B, and C), for licensing or 

maintenance, are you asking for the annual fee or the total for 4 months? 

 

The pricing tables in Attachment B1 has been amended. Please list the monthly price for 

licensing, maintenance, and cellular.  
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Can you give details on the insurance requirements? 

 

Please refer to Section 10 of the General Services Master Agreement (Attachment D) and note 

any exceptions (see RFP Section 3.2).  
 

 

What are the stated payment milestones? 

 

Please propose preferred milestone payments. These will be discussed during contract 

negotiations.  

 

 

What is the established process to close out procedures of projects past construction and 

substantial completion? 

 

These processes will be determined once milestones are agreed upon during contract 

negotiations. 

 

 

What is the expected PPA price by HECO? 

 

The Company is not requesting proposals for a power purchase agreement. The PES Systems 

will be owned and operated by the Company.  

 

 

Are prevailing wages required for Contractor employees? 

 

The Company is currently identifying customers and does not know if prevailing wages are 

required. For your proposal, assume that prevailing wages are not required.   

 

 

What rate plans must households be in to participate? For instance, can they be on an TOU 

or EV plan? 

 

A rate plan for the customer is not required and their participation in a rate does not hinder their 

eligibility for participation. The Supplier is not required to recruit customers. The Company will 

acquire customers for the Initial Assessment. 

 

 

For customer support, will the Supplier be required to set up a call center, or will the 

HECO call center be the first response for participants? 
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For the Initial Assessment, the Company will be the first response. The Supplier is not required 

to set up a call center.  

 

 

What additional benefits are passed down to the participant from Hawaiian Electric? 

 

The Company will provide participants with a fixed bill credit. Additionally, the Company 

intends to use the PES Systems for resiliency by providing power to the participant during 

outages. 

 

 

Is there a particular Tariff applicable to these systems (CGS+, CGS, etc…)? 

 

There are no applicable tariffs. This RFP is requesting front of the meter photovoltaic and energy 

storage systems.  

 

 

INSTALLATION 

 

Are there schedule related targets for installations? 

 

The Company intends to start the design and installation process by the end of April and have all 

PES Systems installed by the end of Q2 2021. The Company will not penalize the Supplier if 

they put forward a best effort and are unable to meet these targeted dates due to circumstances 

out of their control.  

 

 

Will all selected locations have the ability to install consecutively? That is start and finish 

by installing consecutively? 

 

To be determined. The Company is actively identifying potential site locations for the Initial 

Assessment. Ideally, we will identify a customer and site locations that will allow the Supplier to 

install the systems in a centralized location. 

 

 

Will the contractor have the right to reject an install location based on unsuitability or 

safety? 

 

Yes. One of the requirements for the Supplier of Function A is to conduct a site inspection to 

determine the feasibility and safety of installing a PES System at customer location. 
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If the pilot does not result in a program, what happens to these systems after the pilot 

period has expired? 

 

The systems will be removed and the customer location will be restored to preinstalled 

conditions. 

 

 

Once the system is removed what roof reinstatement works are to be included? Does this 

include the removal of flashing and roof penetrations and reinstalling shingles to the 

preinstall condition? 

 

Removal of the system includes removal of all equipment (i.e., flashing, roof penetrations), 

sealing any holes created in the roof and walls, and restoring the house to its preinstall condition 

(i.e., reinstalling matching roof material).  The customer location must be restored to preinstall 

conditions. 

 

 

If we are interconnecting to the utility side of the service entrance to the existing meter 

enclosure, how close to the existing meter enclosure must this be installed? 

 

The interconnection point does not have to be a certain distance from the utility meter. However, 

the system must be interconnected between the customer's point of service and meter. The point 

of service for customers with underground service is the splice can. The point of service for 

customers with overhead service is the weatherhead. Please refer to the Company’s Electric 

Service Installation Manual. 

https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/documents/electrical_services/manuals_and_engineering_spe

cifications/heco_esim_9th_edition.pdf 

 

 

If we need to move the existing meter enclosure to make space for utility side connection 

prior to the output of the system connecting to the household meter enclosure, is this cost to 

be added to our development? 

 

The Company is actively identifying site locations for the Initial Assessment and do not know if 

moving the meter enclosure will be required. Your proposals should assume movement of the 

meter enclosure is not required. If at a later point we find that moving the meter enclosure is 

required for some locations, costs for the additional work will be based on the agreed upon labor 

rate. 

 

 

 

 

https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/documents/electrical_services/manuals_and_engineering_specifications/heco_esim_9th_edition.pdf
https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/documents/electrical_services/manuals_and_engineering_specifications/heco_esim_9th_edition.pdf
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Will the battery installs be located outdoors, if so what kind of access can we expect? 

 

The Company is actively identifying site locations for the Initial Assessment. Without knowing 

the details of each site, your proposals should assume access is available when scheduled with 

the customer and the batteries will be installed indoors, protected from the outside elements.  

If at a later point additional work is required for some locations, costs for the additional work 

will be based on the agreed upon labor rate. 

 

 

 

Will HECO require any additional metering or any third party access to install HECO 

directed equipment for any of the pilot homes? 

 

No, the Company will not require any additional metering or third-party equipment for the Initial 

Assessment. However, please note that the Supplier of Function A is required to measure and 

report to the Company all photovoltaic production and energy imported/exported to the energy 

storage device. 

 

 

PES SYSTEM 

 

Gateway price 

 

The pricing tables have been amended. Supplier of Function A is responsible for providing the 

Gateway, if needed. 

 

 

Will the utility provide expedited review over the submitted construction plans? 

 

The Company will manage the interconnection approval process. The Company does not have 

the ability to expedite the City and County permit process. 

 

 

Does each plan set require a professional engineering? 

 

No, we do not require a professional engineering stamp on each plan set. 

 

 

Is HECO aware of specific inverters that produce power limited to the requested 4kW 

output level that are also designed to respond in a manner such that they can meet the 

FFR-1 and FFR-2 response time requirements? 
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The Company is aware of each certified inverter’s power rating, but inverters are not limited to 4 

kW AC, they must be able to export a minimum of 4 kW AC. Certified inverters are tested to 

provide frequency-watt, so the capability to respond to FFR-1 and FFR-2 is built into current list 

of SRD V1.1 and V2.0 inverters. Please refer to the following website for more information.  

https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/products-and-services/customer-renewable-programs/private-

rooftop-solar/customer-energy-resource-(cer)-equipment 

 

 

Are there restrictions to the capacity of the battery we deploy?  

 

The capacity of the energy storage device should be approximately equal to the PV inverter AC 

rating times a minimum of four hours.  

 

 

In Attachment B1 Page 2 of 4 in the “Example House” paragraph there is mention of the 

minimum capacity of 4kW paired with an energy storage device with a four hour duration. 

Is this 4kW DC or 4kW AC? This appears to be answered in Attachment B1 Page 4 of 4 

section vii, however what are the design requirements for the DC to AC ratio? 

 

The PV DC rating should not exceed the PV inverter AC rating by more than a ratio of 1.3. The 

energy storage device is expected to output at a minimum the PV inverter AC rating. 

 

 

Are the load resources the same as the those enrolled with the PV and storage (PES) 

program? 

 

The Company is seeking proposals to own and operate PES Systems interconnected in front of 

the meter, the customer's load is not a factor.  

 

 

If the customer load is less than the total system output of the PV + ESS, confirm the 

system is allowed to export power. Is the battery allowed to export power? 

 

The Company is seeking proposals to own and operate PES Systems interconnected in front of 

the meter, the customer's load is not a factor. The PES system is allowed to export power.  

 

 

GSMCS 

 

What communication protocol do you plan to use between Utility cloud and our GSMCS? 

Only IEEE 2030.5 is allowed? How about OpenADR? 

 

 

https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/products-and-services/customer-renewable-programs/private-rooftop-solar/customer-energy-resource-(cer)-equipment
https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/products-and-services/customer-renewable-programs/private-rooftop-solar/customer-energy-resource-(cer)-equipment
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For the Initial Assessment, the Company will not use utility cloud and will require access to 

Supplier of Function B’s GSMCS, a stand alone system. Communication between the Supplier 

of Function B’s GSMCS and Supplier of Function A’s gateways/end devices needs to be IEEE 

2030.5 

 

 

Do you plan to communicate with the PES system directly from Utility cloud in some 

cases? 

 

For the Initial Assessment, the Company does not intend to communicate directly to the PES 

Systems using utility Distribute Energy Resource Management System.  

 

 

Can you provide examples to show the range of the Energy signal that will need to be 

followed? Is this a one minute signal? Or of a different duration? How will this signal be 

communicated? 

 

An Energy signal will not be provided. See Attachment C3 footnote. 

 

 

Do you have more information on the format a Load Build/Reduction dispatch will be 

communicated? C2 Page 3 notes “Supplier will receive a control signal from Suppliers 

GSMCS.”  

 

The Company is open to different formats of IEEE 2030.5 to dispatch load build/reduction. 

 

 

GRID SERVICES 

 

If events can be run 365 days a year, does this mean 365 load builds + 365 load reductions 

per year + on average 14 FFR events per year? What about the “energy” events? 

 

A purpose of the Initial Assessment is to determine the operational capability of the PES 

Systems. Scheduling events and operating the PES Systems will be done by the Company and is 

not the responsibility of the Supplier, therefore, the Company could run events 365 days per year 

 

 

For this pilot, when will Energy be delivered versus load build and load reduction? Will 

these be run in phases? 

 

A purpose of the Initial Assessment is to determine the operational capability of the PES 

Systems. Scheduling events and operating the PES Systems will be done by the Company 

through the Supplier of Function B’s GSMCS.  
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What is the minimum notification given for load build and load reduction events? 

 

No notifications are required as these are in front of the meter resources. The Company intends 

to start events without notification. The customer will not be affected. 

 

 

How are baselines calculated for all grid services? 

 

There are no baselines for the Initial Assessment because settlement is not required. Forecasting 

shall be performed with accordance to Attachment C-4. 

 

 

Is homeowner roof maintenance a valid reason for unpenalized capacity downtime? 

 

The Supplier of Function B will not be penalized if the homeowner needs to disconnect their 

PES System for roof maintenance. Supplier of Function B is not responsible for total kW 

installed, but is responsible for providing the ability to monitor and control the PES Systems for 

the delivery of Grid Services. 

 

 

There are no requirements for an Energy forecast. Will this be added? 

 

Yes, Energy forecast will be required. The amount of available energy in the PV and battery is 

the energy forecast. See updates to Attachment C3 and C4. The Supplier of Function B is not 

being paid for the performance of the forecast, but the Company’s System Operations will need 

to use the forecast for planning purposes and will want to firm requirements for full scale 

program.    

 

 

Does HECO possess and/or can HECO share historical solar irradiation and load data for 

the geographical areas expected to be covered in this RFP? If so, can HECO describe the 

time frame and resolution of this data? 

 

Solar irradiance data is not available. Forecast should be based on PV system nameplate (4 kW 

AC) and battery state of charge, and if possible, actual energy available from battery and PV. 

The Supplier of Function B is not being paid for the performance of the forecast, but the 

Company’s System Operations will need to use the forecast for planning purposes and will want 

to firm requirements for full scale program.    
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For load build, can we charge the battery from grid power? If yes, is there a limit to grid 

charging of the battery? 

 

No, the energy storage device must be charged by the photovoltaic system. 

 

 

 

During a load reduction, would exporting power back to the grid count for load reduction 

capacity? 

 

Yes, exporting energy from battery or PV counts as load reduction capacity when a load 

reduction event is called between the export hours of 5 and 9 pm.  

 

 

Is a bidder prepared FFR compliance documentation sufficient for this pilot or is another 

standard compliance required? 

 

Yes, test data from Bidder showing compliance to FFR requirements is sufficient.  

 

 

While in a load shift mode, will FFR be turned off or will FFR take precedence over load 

shifting? 

 

During a load reduction or load build event, FFR will take precedence. 

 

 

If an FFR event is longer than 30 minutes, is the expected Supplier action to end the 

frequency response regardless of line frequency? 

 

As long as the frequency is below required limit, device must continue to stay in event. As 

described in Attachment C-1 FFR2 Section 2.H, the 30 minutes start once the frequency is above 

59.9Hz.   

 

 

Please define what a “Test FFR” event is. When a test is triggered, are start times, end 

times, and proxy frequencies input into the test and a valid system response to these values 

initiated? 

 

For a Test FFR event, the Company requires an on/off signal to operate the PES Systems and 

simulate a FFR event. 
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RESILIENCY 

 

For the purposes of the Resiliency section of this RFP, does HECO expect to negotiate 

agreements with their customers such that the response to this RFP could include 

equipment installed on the customer side of the meter? 

 

No. All equipment installed for the Initial Assessment, including for resiliency, must be installed 

in front of the utility meter. 

 

 

If the PES system has an automatic transfer switch to self-island when it detects grid power 

is lost does this satisfy HECO's concerns? Otherwise we can include a proposal for a 

redundant back-up switch for Resiliency. 

 

For resiliency purposes, the Company will consider integrated automatic transfer switches but 

they must be either open transition or closed transition < 100 ms. Please include a detailed 

description and identify appropriate equipment in plan set.  

 

 

Do you require blinkless islanding or is black start OK?   

 

Black start is acceptable. 

 

 

In the event that power is lost to the dwelling, are we reserving a portion of the ESS to 

provide backup power to the dwelling? 

 

A reserve margin is not required. If power is lost to the dwelling, the available energy in the ESS 

will be delivered to the customer.  

 

 

In an islanding scenario, what if the dwelling power consumption is greater than the 

maximum power output of the ESS? This requires greater control over the dwelling loads 

to prevent excess consumption in an island 

 

The ESS is expected to perform in accordance with its off grid overload functionality if dwelling 

power consumption exceeds the maximum power output of the ESS. If load power exceeds 

power in battery, power to load will no longer be available.  The PES System is expected to 

provide the nameplate power rating of the energy storage system ("ESS") for a minimum of 4 

hours at 100% useable state of charge ("SOC"). The minimum duration is reduced proportionally 

to the useable SOC.  

 


